IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID BOLAND, INCORPORATED, Appellant,

VS.

INTERCARGO INSURANCE COMPANY, Appellee.

Case Number: SC02-2210

Question of Law Certified by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit in Federal Case Number: 01-17246

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT DAVID BOLAND, INC.

Denis L. Durkin
Fla. Bar No. 237132
Edgar E. Stanton
Fla. Bar No. 497444
BAKER & HOSTETLER LLP
2300 Sun Trust Center
200 South Orange Avenue
Post Office Box 112
Orlando, Florida 32802-0112
Telephone: (407) 649-4000
Telecopier: (407) 841-0168

Attorneys for Appellant DAVID BOLAND, INC.

I.	Nature of the Case	
II.	Course of Proceedings	
III.	Disposition Below	
SUMMARY	OF THE ARGUMENT 8	
ARGUMEN	TT	
I.	Applicable Appellate Standard of Review	
II.	Section 627.428, Florida statutes (2001), and supporting Florida decisional law mandate that when a judgment is rendered against an insurer, the court shall require that the insurer pay the obligee's attorneys' fees	
	A. Section 627.428 applies to all insurers, including sureties, and is implicit in all Florida insurance contracts, including surety bonds 10	
	B. The liability of a performance-bond surety for attorneys' fees incurred by an obligee is not limited by the penal sum of the bond	
	C. Attorneys' Fees and Actual or Compensatory Damages are Wholly Distinct, and Statutory Attorneys' Fees are Recoverable Above and Beyond Damages	

III.	The purpose of § 627.428 would be completely undermined if attorneys' fees incurred in an action to enforce a surety's obligation under a performance bond were limited to the face amount of the bond
IV.	The district court erred in holding that misconduct, in addition to a breach of the performance bond, must be demonstrated in order to justify an expansion of the scope of a surety's liability beyond the penal sum of the bond
V.	Intercargo incorrectly relied on distinguishable cases involving statutory lien transfer bonds to support the argument that its liability for damages, attorneys' fees and costs is limited to the penal sum of its performance bond
CONCLUSI	ON
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE	
CERTIFICA	ATE OF COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>PAGE</u> <u>Cases</u>
Aetna Cas. & Surety Co. v. Buck, 594 So.2d 280 (Fla. 1992) 31
American Home Assurance Co. v. Larkin General Hosp., 593 So.2d 195 (Fla. 1992)
<u>Armstrong v. Harris</u> , 773 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 2000)
Bidon v. Department of Prof'l Regulation, Florida Real Estate Comm'n, 596 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1992)
Blizzard v. Government Employees Ins. Co., 654 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995)
Cincinnati Ins. Co. v. Palmer, 297 So.2d 96 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974) passim
DiStefano Const., Inc. v. Fidelity and Deposit Co. of Maryland, 597 So.2d 248 (Fla. 1992)
First Nat'l Bank of Miami v. Insurance Co. of North Am., 535 F.2d 2841 (Fla. 5th DCA 1976)
Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe, 472 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1985)
<u>Gene B. Glick Co. v. Fischer-McGann, Inc.</u> , 667 So.2d 865 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1996)
Holly v. Auld, 450 So.2d 217 (Fla. 1984)
Insurance Co. of North Am. v. Lexow, 602 So.2d 528 (Fla. 1992) 15, 22
<u>Ivey v. Allstate Ins. Co.</u> , 774 So.2d 679 (Fla. 2000) 25, 29, 30
National Fire Ins. Co. of Hartford v. L.J. Clark Const. Co., 579 So.2d 743 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991)

Nichols v. Preferred Nat'l Ins. Co., 704 So.2d 1371 (Fla. 1997) . passim
Savona v. Prudential Ins. Co. of Am., 648 So.2d 705 (Fla. 1995) 10
St. Paul Mercury Ins. Co. v. Department of State, 581 So.2d 976 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)
Travelers Indem. Co. v. Housing Auth. of Miami, 256 So. 2d 230 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972)
<u>Statutes</u>
§ 624.03, Fla. Stat. (2001)
§ 627.428(1), Fla. Stat. (2001)
§ 627.428, Fla. Stat. (2001) passim
§ 627.736(8), Fla. Stat. (2001)
§ 744.357, Fla. Stat. (2001)
Other Authorities
Fla. R. App. P. 9.150

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

I. Nature of the Case.

Appellant, David Boland, Inc. ("Boland"), was a contractor awarded a prime contract to construct a Special Forces Training Facility at Fleming Key in Key West, Florida. The United States Navy was the procuring agency. The project specifications required the construction of various buildings at the project site. Boland delivered Miller Act payment and performance bonds written by The American Insurance Company. Boland subcontracted the roofing work to Trans Coastal Roofing Company, Inc. ("Trans Coastal"), which provided common law payment and performance bonds issued by Appellee, Intercargo Insurance Company ("Intercargo"). (V. 1, Dkt. #1).

Trans Coastal began performance of the roof installations in Spring 1993. It was nearing completion of the roofing work in late 1993 when a government inspection revealed that, at numerous locations throughout the roofs on the buildings, the roof insulation had failed to adhere to the concrete roof decks of the buildings as required by the express provisions of the contract specifications. Boland, pursuant to the subcontract agreement, directed Trans Coastal to proceed with remedial work that had been approved in late Spring 1994. Trans Coastal objected and claimed that it had performed the work in

accordance with the specifications. After repeated demands by Boland to perform, Trans Coastal refused to act and Boland defaulted Trans Coastal in July 1994. Boland made demand upon Intercargo, as Trans Coastal's performance-bond surety, that it perform and complete the work in accordance with its performance bond, which Intercargo refused to do. Thereafter, additional investigation was conducted and Boland determined that the roof systems as installed should be completely removed and replaced in accordance with the project specifications. (V. 1, Dkt. 1).

II. <u>Course of Proceedings.</u>

In September 1994, Trans Coastal filed a Miller Act and breach of contract civil action against Boland and its surety, The American Insurance Company ("TAIC"), in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida ("the District Court"), seeking over \$300,000.00 in damages, plus attorneys' fees. (V. 1, Dkt. #1). Boland and TAIC answered (V. 1, Dkt. #5), and Boland filed a compulsory counterclaim against Trans Coastal and a

The Record on Appeal, as prepared by the District Court for the Southern District of Florida for the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, is organized according to volume and docket number. Accordingly, the references to the record in this appeal will be cited by volume and docket number as follows: (V. __, Dkt. #__).

third-party complaint against Intercargo (V. 1, Dkt. #5). Following a two-week trial in Key West, on

April 19, 1996, the jury rendered a verdict of approximately \$23,451.00 in Boland's favor against Trans Coastal. (V.3, Dkt. #104). However, the jury did not find that Intercargo had defaulted on the performance bond under which Boland was the obligee and, accordingly, did not find Intercargo liable for damages. (V. 3, Dkt. #104).

Thereafter, Boland filed a Motion for a New Trial on damages and various other post-trial motions. (V. 3, Dkt. #107, 108). Judge James Lawrence King, of the District Court, entered an order granting the Motion for a New Trial and the case was again tried before Judge James C. Paine, also of the District Court. (V. 3, Dkt. #130). A verdict was rendered on October 27, 1998, in the amount of approximately \$31,000.00 against *both* Trans Coastal and Intercargo. (V. 4, Dkt. #187). Final judgment was entered for Boland against Intercargo and Trans Coastal on November 17, 1998. (V. 4, Dkt. #191). On December 17, 1998, Boland moved for attorneys' fees and to tax costs to Intercargo and Trans Coastal. (V. 4, Dkt. #196). Thereafter, Trans Coastal and Intercargo filed a Notice of Appeal primarily asserting that the District Court had committed error in granting the Motion for a New Trial. (V. 5, Dkt. #203, 206, 207). The

District Court motions, including Boland's motion for attorneys' fees and to tax costs, were stayed pending the outcome of the appeal. (V. 5, Dkt. #208). The U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit ("the Eleventh Circuit") subsequently *per curiam* affirmed the judgment against both defendants. (V. 5, Dkt. #224).

The result of this protracted litigation was that Boland prevailed on all claims at trial and on the first appeal to the Eleventh Circuit. Boland was the prevailing party on the two counts initially asserted against it by Trans Coastal under the Miller Act and for state law breach of contract. Boland was also the prevailing party on its two counterclaims for damages asserted against Trans Coastal and Intercargo. Boland achieved a judicial determination that both Trans Coastal and Intercargo had breached their contracts with Boland and that Boland was entitled to recover damages therefor. Trans Coastal did not prevail on any of its claims. Finally, Boland prevailed on the appeal of the District Court's decision brought in the Eleventh Circuit by Trans Coastal and Intercargo. (V. 5, Dkt. #224). After the appeal, the District Court recommenced its consideration of pending motions which had been stayed during the appeal, including Boland's motion for attorneys' fees and to tax costs (V. 5, Dkt. #227).

On December 17, 1998, Boland moved for attorneys' fees and costs incurred by it to litigate both trials in the case. (V. 4, Dkt. #196). After Boland prevailed on the Eleventh Circuit appeal brought by Intercargo and Trans Coastal with respect to the final judgment against both of them (V. 5, Dkt. #224), on February 27, 2001, the District Court referred Boland's 1998 motion for attorneys' fees and costs to United States Magistrate Judge Linnea R. Johnson ("Magistrate Judge Johnson") (V. 5, Dkt. #233). On August 10, 2001, Magistrate Judge Johnson submitted a Report and Recommendation regarding Boland's Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs. (V. 5, Dkt. #252). On the basis of Nichols v. Preferred Nat'l Ins. Co., 704 So.2d 1371 (Fla. 1997), Magistrate Judge Johnson recommended that Boland's motion be granted as follows: "that Boland be awarded \$207,790.66 in attorneys' fees and \$21,860.93 in costs, for a total fee and cost award of \$229,651.59; and that Intercargo's liability for such fees and costs

be limited to the face amount of the bond." (V. 5, Dkt. #252). Boland timely filed an Objection to the Report and Recommendation. (V. 5, Dkt. #253).

III. <u>Disposition Below.</u>

The District Court agreed with the Magistrate Judge Johnson's interpretation of Nichols and partly adopted the Report and Recommendation

on October 17, 2001, by awarding Boland \$276,950.33 in attorneys' fees and \$26,694.98 in costs and then limiting Intercargo's liability for said fees and costs to the face amount of its performance bond, \$167,800.00. (V. 5, Dkt. #260). A final judgment in accordance with the District Court's order of October 17, 2001, was entered on November 20, 2001 (V.5, Dkt. #262), and Boland proceeded to file a timely Notice of Appeal with the Eleventh Circuit on December 12, 2001 (V. 5, Dkt. #264). Prior to and during the pendency of Boland's appeal before the Eleventh Circuit, Intercargo partially satisfied the November 20, 2001, judgment by paying Boland the amount of \$39,115.03 in principal, plus interest (V. 5, Dkt. #230), and \$125,542.72 (V. 5, Dkt. #265), respectively. The District Court, also during the pendency of Boland's Eleventh Circuit appeal, on January 18, 2002, entered an amended final judgment to reflect a minor downward adjustment in the amount of costs taxable to Intercargo and Trans Coastal, which amendment is not on appeal and will not be appealed by Boland. (V. 5, Dkt. #268)(reducing awarded costs from \$26,694.98 to \$22,194.98). The amended final judgment for Boland and against Intercargo and Trans Coastal neither altered the awarded attorneys' fees to Boland in the amount of \$276,950.00, nor the limitation of Intercargo's total liability to the face amount of the penal bond, \$167,800.00. (V. 5, Dkt. #268).

On October 10, 2002, the Eleventh Circuit certified the following question of Florida law to the Florida Supreme Court: "DOES FLORIDA STATUTE § 627.428 AUTHORIZE RECOVERY OF ATTORNEYS' FEES IN EXCESS OF PERFORMANCE BOND'S FACE AMOUNT FROM SUBCONTRACTOR'S SURETY, WHEN THE FEES CLAIMANT HAS NOT SHOWN INDEPENDENT MISCONDUCT ON THE PART OF THE SURETY?" Certification Opinion from the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit (Oct. 10, 2002) at 6. Since there is no language in § 627.428 that would suggest that surety misconduct is in any way relevant to the scope and applicability of that statute, Boland believes that the following question more appropriately phrases the issue on appeal: Is the recovery of an award of statutory attorneys' fees pursuant to § 627.428§, Florida Statutes (2001), by an obligee under a surety performance bond limited to the penal sum of the bond? More precisely, is an award of statutory attorneys' fees to an obligee limited to the difference between the penal sum of the surety bond and damages already awarded, such that no statutory fees may be recovered where the damages award equals or exceeds the penal sum of the bond? That issue, however phrased, is now before this Court pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.150, "Discretionary Proceedings to Review Certified Questions

from Federal Courts."

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court incorrectly held that Intercargo's liability, as a surety, for attorneys' fees under § 627.428 is limited to the penal sum of the performance bond under which Trans Coastal is the principal and Boland is the obligee. The plain, unambiguous language of § 627.428 supports Boland's recovery of statutory attorneys' fees in the full amount awarded by the District Court without limiting the fees award to the face amount of the bond. Section 627.428 mandates an award of attorneys' fees to insureds and named beneficiaries who prevail in litigation over an insurer and in no way suggests that attorneys' fees may be limited by the penal sum stated in a construction performance bond.

Florida case law, including this Court's decision in State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Palma, 629 So.2d 830, 832 (Fla. 1993), supports that conclusion. Together, § 627.428 and this Court's decision in Palma, provide the controlling law in this appeal. They do not support the District Court's decision to limit Boland's recovery of attorneys' fees and costs in addition to awarded compensatory damages, to the face amount of the performance bond. The penal amount of the bond only limits available compensatory damages, similar

to the policy limits of an insurance policy, but is irrelevant with respect to the extent of Boland's entitlement to statutory attorneys' fees under § 627.428.

Intercargo relies on completely inapposite cases that address limitations on the recovery of attorneys' fees under guardianship bonds and lien transfer bonds to support its position. With respect to guardianship bonds, this Court explained, in Nichols v. Preferred Nat'l Ins. Co., 704 So.2d 1371, 1374 (Fla. 1997), that attorneys' fees recoverable under § 627.428 are limited by another statute which pertains only to sureties for guardians, § 744.357, Florida Statutes (stating: "[N]o surety for a guardian shall be charged beyond the property of the ward"). The statutory limitation on recovery of attorneys' fees for the breach of a guardianship bond does not apply to common law performance bonds.

This Court also explained that transfer-of-lien bonds are, like guardianship bonds, wholly distinct from performance bonds. See DiStefano Construction, Inc. v. Fidelity and Deposit Co. of Maryland, 597 So.2d 248, 250 (Fla. 1992). This Court specifically stated that fees under § 627.428 are mandated in cases against sureties issuing performance bonds and that there is no corresponding authorization against a surety issuing a lien transfer bond. Id.

In short, the limitations imposed on guardianship bonds and lien transfer bonds do not apply to performance bonds. The plain language of § 627.428, this Court's holding in Palma, and the absence of any statutory limitation, support Boland's recovery of the full amount of the awarded attorneys' fees from Intercargo without regard to the penal sum of the performance bond.

ARGUMENT

I. Applicable Appellate Standard of Review.

The instant appeal is before this Court pursuant to a question certified by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit ("the Eleventh Circuit"). That question asks this Court to interpret § 627.428, thereby raising a question of law. This Court's standard of review is *de novo*. See, e.g., Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000)(stating that "the standard of review for a pure question of law is *de novo*"); see also Savona v. Prudential Ins. Co. of Am., 648 So.2d 705, 707 (Fla. 1995)(reviewing a certified question from the Eleventh Circuit, which asked for the interpretation of a Florida Statute, by interpreting the statute according to its plain and ordinary meaning. This Court then returned the case to the Eleventh Circuit for disposition).

II. <u>Section 627.428, Florida Statutes (2001), and supporting Florida</u> decisional law mandate that when a judgment is rendered against

an insurer, the court shall require that the insurer pay the obligee's attorneys' fees.

A. Section 627.428 applies to all insurers, including sureties, and is implicit in all Florida insurance contracts, including surety bonds.

The only issue raised by the instant appeal is whether Boland is entitled to statutory attorneys' fees from Intercargo pursuant to § 627.428, even though Boland's recovery of attorneys' fees in addition to its costs and compensatory damages would constitute an amount in excess of the penal sum of the performance bond, \$167,800.00. Boland recognizes that recovery of damages based solely on the insurance contract, i.e., the performance bond, in which Intercargo is the surety, Trans Coastal the principal, and Boland the obligee, may not exceed the penal sum of the bond. See St. Paul Mercury Ins. Co. v. Department of State, 581 So.2d 976, 977 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). However, Boland's entitlement to statutory attorneys' fees is not limited by the penal sum of the performance bond because § 627.428 mandates that any named insured or beneficiary under an insurance contract is entitled to statutory attorneys' fees upon the rendition of a judgment against the insurer. Specifically, § §627.428(1) provides as follows:

Upon the rendition of a judgment or decree by any of the courts of this state against an insurer and in favor of any named or omnibus insured or the named beneficiary under a policy or contract executed by the insurer,

the trial court or, in the event of an appeal in which the insured or beneficiary prevails, the appellate court shall adjudge or decree against the insurer and in favor of the insured or beneficiary a reasonable sum as fees or compensation for the insured's or beneficiary's attorney prosecuting the suit in which the recovery is had.

There is no question under Florida case law that the statute's use of "insurer" includes a surety such as Intercargo, so that the rendition of a judgment, as was obtained by Boland against Intercargo under its performance bond, required that Intercargo pay Boland's attorneys' fees. In other words, Intercargo, as the surety in the performance bond at issue, is an "insurer" under § 627.428. First, the Florida Insurance Code clearly defines "insurer" to include a "surety." See § 624.03, Fla. Stat. (2001)§§. Second, as Magistrate Judge Johnson correctly observed in her Report and Recommendation (Aug. 10, 2001), "the application of Section 627.428 to surety bonds is not and cannot be disputed. First Nat'l Bank of Miami v. Insurance Co. of North Am., 535 F.2d 2841, 286 (Fla. 5th DCA 1976)." Finally, this Court expressly stated that § 627.428 applies to sureties and surety bonds: "We disapprove Dealers to the extent it holds that section 627.428 does not apply to sureties." Nichols v. Preferred Nat'l Ins. Co., 704 So.2d 1371, 1374 (Fla. 1997).

There also is no question that the statutory attorneys' fees prescribed by § 627.428 are recoverable by the named beneficiaries of *all* insurance contracts, including the subject performance bond. That is, the plain, unambiguous attorneys'

fee provision prescribed in § 627.428 is implicit in *all* Florida insurance contracts, so that an obligee may recover from its surety not only the full amount of the penal sum of the bond but also the attorneys' fees incurred to enforce liability under the bond. This Court expressly concluded that attorneys' fees under § 627.428 are implicit in all Florida insurance contracts. See State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Palma, 629 So.2d 830, 832 (Fla. 1993)(stating: "Because the statute applies in virtually all suits arising under insurance contracts, we agree ... that the terms of section 627.428 are an implicit part of every insurance policy issued in Florida.").

Thus, sureties are insurers and are subject to § 627.428, and surety bonds are insurance contracts such that § 627.428 is implicit in all of them. Any contrary argument is meritless.² The only legal issue for this Court's consideration, then, is whether a limitation upon recovery of attorneys' fees that is not found on the face of § 627.428 can be read into it solely for the benefit of Intercargo and other sureties who have required their respective obligees, or insureds, to sue for damages arising from the liability that the sureties share, jointly and severally, with their respective principals.

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