IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA CASE NO. SC02-2210

DAVID BOLAND, INCORPORATED, :

Appellant, :

VS. :

INTERCARGO INSURANCE COMPANY, :

Appellee. :

Appellee. :

QUESTION OF LAW CERTIFIED BY THE UNITED STATES COURT

OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE INTERCARGO INSURANCE COMPANY

James O. Murphy, Jr., Esquire Fla. Bar No. 057437
BYRD AND MURPHY
524 South Andrews Avenue
Suite 200N
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
Telephone: (954) 463-1423
Telecopier: (954) 463-5428

and

Hala A. Sandridge, Esquire Fla. Bar No. 454362 FOWLER WHITE BOGGS BANKER, P.A. P.O. Box 1700 Tampa, Florida 33602 Telephone: (813) 228-7411

Telecopier: (813) 229-8313

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Boland largely premises its argument on a legal principle Intercargo does not dispute. Boland maintains that attorneys' fees should be awarded to successful claimants against sureties on performance bonds. Intercargo does not dispute such entitlement. Through Section 627.756, the Florida Legislature applied Section 627.428 to require sureties to pay such attorneys' fees for a specified class of claimants.

But, as recognized by the Eleventh Circuit, Section 627.428 does not address the **amount** of those fees, other than to say they should be reasonable. Suretyship law does limit a claimant's damages to the penal sum of the bond. This Court has applied this same rule to limit attorneys' fees to the penal sum of other surety bonds, absent surety misconduct. Boland attacks the application of these legal principles to performance bonds, but cannot distinguish performance bonds from other types of surety bonds.

Boland's argument lacks primarily policy support. While Boland steadfastly urges attorneys' fees be awarded to level the playing field for insureds against insurance companies, the tripartite relationship between an obligee, principal and surety does not trigger that concern. Unlike an insured who bargained to be paid by an insurer upon the happening of a contingency,

the surety merely backs the credit of its principal.

Equally important, contractors and subcontractors sometimes negotiate performance bonds. Here, for instance, Boland required Trans Coastal to provide a bond on a form approved by Boland. Boland could have demanded a bond in an amount that fully protected Boland if litigation ensued. This oversight results **not** from inadequate bargaining powers, but from a poorly negotiated deal. Boland's public policy argument crumbles under the general realities of suretyship law and the specific facts of this case.

Boland's argument is also internally inconsistent. Boland argues that performance bonds are contracts, yet ignores the terms of the contract it negotiated. Indeed, the bond is on a form approved by Boland. The face of the bond provides a penalty of \$167,800.00 and specifically includes, as part of the damages subject to that bond penalty, all litigation related costs and attorneys' fees which the contractor may suffer by reason of the principal's default.

Finally, Boland circumvents the question the Eleventh Circuit certified, except to assert without support that surety misconduct is unnecessary to award prevailing party attorneys' fees. Payment and performance bonds should be treated like other surety bonds: to expand the surety's liability, some

misconduct must be alleged and proven on the part of the surety separate and apart from the misconduct of its principal. Because no such separate misconduct is present here, Intercargo is not liable for fees beyond the penal sum of its bond.

ARGUMENT

- I. SECTION 627.428(1), <u>FLA</u>. <u>STAT</u>., DOES NOT REQUIRE A SURETY TO PAY ATTORNEYS' FEES IN EXCESS OF THE PENAL SUM OF ITS PERFORMANCE BOND.
 - A. While Sections 627.428 and 627.756

 Entitle Successful Claimants to Attorneys' Fees Against Sureties Issuing Payment and Performance Bonds, Section 627.428 Does Not Address the Amount of Such Awards.

Boland argues that Section 627.428 authorizes a court to assess attorneys' fees to a prevailing party claimant against a surety issuing a payment and performance bond. Intercargo agrees. Section 627.756(1), entitled "Bonds for Construction Contracts; Attorney Fees in Case of Suit," states:

Section 627.428 applies to suits brought by owners, subcontractors, laborers, and materialmen against a surety insurer under payment or performance bonds written by the insurer under the laws of this state to indemnify against pecuniary loss by breach of a building or construction contract. Owners, subcontractors, laborers and materialmen shall be deemed to be insureds or beneficiaries for the purposes of this section.

Thus, the Legislature has provided a specific statute that applies Section 627.428 to award attorneys' fees to prevailing party claimants under payment and performance bonds.² See <u>Danis</u>

 $^{^{2\}prime}$ The Surety Association of American notes that Section 627.756 does not apply to prime contractors, and therefore cannot be the basis for assessing fees against Intercargo.

Industries Corp. v. Ground Improvement Tech. Co., 645 So. 2d 420 (Fla. 1994)(recognizing Section 627.428(1) applies *via* Section 627.756).

Neither Sections 627.428 nor 627.756, however, resolve the issue of the **amount** of that fee. This question arises because payment and performance bonds differ from insurance policies. The Florida Legislature recognized this distinction when it enacted Section 627.756. The only possible means to harmonize Section 627.428 with Section 627.756 is to conclude that while Section 627.428 applies to surety bonds, Section 627.756 specifically applies to payment and performance surety bonds in the construction context. As this Court noted in <u>Unruh v. State</u>, 669 So. 2d 242 (Fla. 1996):

As a fundamental rule of statutory instruction, courts should avoid readings that would render part of statute meaningless, and whenever possible must give full effect to all statutory provisions and construe related statutory provisions in harmony with another.

<u>See Id</u>. at 245. It follows then that the Florida Legislature distinguished attorneys' fees for payment and performance bonds

Intercargo did not raise this issue in the Eleventh Circuit because it has always contended that under either Section 627.428 or the contractual basis for attorneys' fees, fees were limited to the penal sum of the bond. Nonetheless, this Court might fashion a rule that applies the SAA's argument to future cases.

from those available under the more general provision of Section 627.428; otherwise, Section 627.756(1) would be rendered meaningless.

Julian E. Johnson & Sons, Inc. v. Balboa Ins. Co., 408 So. 2d 1044, 1047 (Fla. 1982), supports this conclusion. There, this Court cited with approval <u>Snead Constr. Corp. v. Langerman</u>, 369 So. 2d 591 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), in which the First District held that Section 627.756 governs over Section 627.428 when the lawsuit involves a performance bond:

with appellants that We agree 627.756(2) is applicable. Section 624.13 of the Insurance Code states that the code's provisions regarding types of insurance, insurers or as to "a particular matter" prevail over all other such provisions. Sections 627.428 and 627.756 are within the insurance code, and Section 627.756 deals specifically with suits on performance or payment bonds against surety insurers to construction contracts. By mandate Section 624.13, then, attorney's fees in suits by sub-contractors like appellee against a surety on a performance or payment bond are governed by the specific provisions in 627.756.

408 So. 2d at 1047 (emphasis added).

In sum, this Court has recognized the Legislature's distinction between sureties issuing payment and performance bonds and insurers issuing insurance policies. Contrary to Boland's assertion, because the issue certified by the Eleventh

Circuit involves performance bonds, it cannot be determined by solely the "face" of Section 627.428.

B. Prior Decisions from this Court Do Not Resolve Whether Attorneys' Fees Cannot Exceed the Penal Sum of the Performance Bond.

Boland argues that the magistrate and district court wrongly argued that the issue before this Court is one of first impression. According to Boland, this Court addressed the issue of whether a surety is liable for attorneys' fees beyond the penal sum of a performance bond in State Farm Fire & Casualty
Co. v. Palma, 629 So. 2d 830 (Fla. 1993). Boland's reliance upon Palma addresses only entitlement, not amount, of attorneys' fees awards.

In <u>Palma</u>, plaintiff was injured in a car accident and sought no-fault benefits from her insurance company, State Farm. When plaintiff submitted the bill for a \$600 thermographic examination, State Farm refused to pay. Plaintiff sued State Farm, which answered that it was not required to pay for the thermographic examination because this treatment did not constitute a necessary medical service. The trial judge agreed with State Farm and refused to order payment. After several appeals, the issue ultimately came before this Court on conflict certiorari. The issue in conflict was the **entitlement** of a party for attorneys' fees for litigating entitlement and amount of attorneys' fees. This Court described the issue before it:

Thus, the issue presented in this case is when does a dispute relating to attorney's fees fall within the scope of section 627.428.

In answering this question, this Court held that

if an insurer loses such a suit but contests the insured's entitlement to attorney's fees, this is still a claim under the policy and within the scope of section 627.428. Because such services are rendered in procuring full payment of the judgment, the insured does have an interest in the fee recovered. Accordingly, we hold that attorney's fees may properly be awarded under section 627.428 for litigating the issue of entitlement to attorney's fees.

However, we do not agree with the district court below that attorney's fees may be awarded for litigating the amount of attorney's fees. The language of the statute does not support such a conclusion. Such work inures solely to the attorney's benefit and cannot be considered services rendered in procuring full payment of the judgment.

<u>See Id</u>. at 832-833. <u>Palma</u> did not address the amount of fees assessed against sureties issuing payment and performance bonds.

<u>Palma</u> simply provides no guidance to the issue certified by the Eleventh Circuit.³

Boland argues that <a>Palma states that "attorneys' fees shall

Boland additionally cites <u>Cincinnati Ins. Co. v. Palmer</u>, 297 So. 2d 96 (Fla. $4^{\rm th}$ DCA 1974) and <u>Blizzard v. Governmental Employees Ins. Co.</u>, 654 So. 2d 565 (Fla. $1^{\rm st}$ DCA 1995). (IBR, p. 15-16) Neither address the issue certified by the Eleventh Circuit. Both involved a claim for attorneys' fees on a classic insurance liability contract.

be decreed against the insurer when judgment is rendered in favor of an insured or when the insured prevails on appeal" and that "if the dispute is within the scope of section 627.428 and the insurer loses, the insurer is always obligated for attorneys' fees." (IBR, p. 14-15) Although the term "insurer" is defined under the Florida Insurance Code to include a "surety," see Nichols v. Preferred Nat'l Ins. Co., 704 So. 2d 1371, 1374 (Fla. 1997), the issue is not whether fees can be assessed against the surety (Sections 627.428 and 627.756 permit such an award), the issue is whether those fees can exceed the penal sum of the bond.

At the very least, <u>Nichols</u> supports the position that solely because a surety is an "insurer" under the Insurance Code does not expose the surety to unlimited attorneys' fees under a performance bond. In <u>Nichols</u>, this Court concluded that the surety on a guardianship bond was an insurer under Section 627.428. However, this Court recognized that the surety's exposure might be limited to the face amount of the bond. This Court then fashioned a rule that limited attorneys' fees it had previously held available under Section 627.428 to those resulting from the surety's misconduct:

To ensure that sureties are protected from having to pay amounts over the face amount of the bond due to a principal's

misconduct but that the beneficiaries are not required to reduce the amount received under the bond when the surety itself is negligent or unreasonable in failing to timely pay a claim, we hold as follows: When principals misappropriate quardianship funds or insufficiently discharge their duties, attorney's fees and costs for a claim based solely on this negligence are limited to the face amount of the bond pursuant to section 744.357; however, when the trial court specifically determines that attorney's fees and costs were incurred because a surety failed to act diligently and unreasonably delayed the payment of a claim, attorney's fees and costs are not protected by section 744.357.

<u>See Id</u>. at 1374 (emphasis added) In short, this Court reconciled a claimant's right to attorneys' fees under Section 627.428 with the realities of suretyship law, and the specific statute limiting liability of sureties on guardianship bonds. Given the peculiar nature of payment and performance bonds, as well as a specific statute governing such bonds, this Court is confronted with an almost identical task.

C. The Penal Sum of a Performance Bond Is the Limit of Liability, Whether the Recovery Sought Is Attorneys' Fees And/or Compensatory Damages.

Boland argues that all attorneys' fees incurred by a claimant seeking to recover on a performance bond should be recoverable because attorneys' fees are something other than compensatory damages. So, Boland explains, Intercargo's argument should be rejected because the penal sum limitations

apply only to compensatory damages, not attorneys' fees.

Boland's argument is defective on several levels. First, Boland argues that the performance bond is nothing more than a contract. (IBR, p. 18-19) Yet Boland fails to note that the specific performance bond executed and delivered by Intercargo states the bond penalty of \$167,800.00, then specifically includes as part of the losses, costs, and damages subject to that bond penalty, "all litigation-related costs and attorneys' fees which [Boland] may suffer by reason of [Trans Coastal's] default" (A3, ¶2). Therefore, Boland - who argues that it has a contract with Intercargo - accepted the bond issued by Intercargo which provided for attorneys' fees. While Intercargo agreed to pay attorneys' fees, it limited such exposure to the penal sum of the bond.

American Home Assurance Company v. Larkin General Hospital, Ltd., 593 So.2d 195, 198 (Fla. 1992), bolsters this point. In Larkin General, this Court held that a surety on a performance bond is not liable for delay damages unless the bond provided for such damages. In reaching this conclusion, this Court noted that a bond is a contract, and that the surety's liability for damages is limited to the terms of the bond. Importantly, this Court refused to extend the liability of the surety by

The bond here provided for delay damages. (A3, $\P2$)

implication.

Boland cites <u>Bidon v. Department of Professional Regulation</u>, <u>Florida Real Estate Commission</u>, 596 So. 2d 450(Fla. 1992), to argue that attorney's fees were not to be included in the term "actual or compensatory" damages. (IBR, p. 17-18, 20) Even though Intercargo agrees <u>Bidon</u> so holds, <u>Bidon</u> is otherwise inapplicable to the issue before this Court. The inherent defect in Boland's reliance on <u>Bidon</u>, as well its attorneys'-fees-are-not-compensatory-damages argument, is this line of reasoning addresses **entitlement** to fees, not any limitations on the **amount** of the fee. Intercargo does not dispute Boland's entitlement to attorneys' fees, it just can recover no more than the penal sum of the bond. Whether fees are characterized as compensatory does not answer the issue before this Court.

II. PUBLIC POLICY DOES NOT JUSTIFY AWARDING OPEN-ENDED ATTORNEYS' FEES UNDER SECTION 627.428 WHEN CONTRACTORS CAN NEGOTIATE THE TERMS AND AMOUNT OF THE BOND, AND FEW SURETIES WOULD PROVIDE BONDS OR THE COST WOULD BE PROHIBITIVE TO THE CONSUMING PUBLIC IF THE RULE WERE OTHERWISE.

Boland pitches a public policy argument to justify imposing open-ended liability for attorneys' fees under a performance bond. Boland's argument initially suffers from dependency upon cases imposing attorneys' fees against an insurer who argues that **no** fees should be imposed. Intercargo does not argue "no

liability" for attorneys' fees, it just contests the **amount** of those fees beyond the penal sum of the bond.

Moreover, Boland inappropriately describes the purpose behind Section 627.428 to support its argument. (IBR, p. 21) Citing Ivey v. Allstate Ins. Co., 774 So. 2d 679, 684 (Fla. 2000), Boland claims Section 627.428 levels the playing field so that the economic power of insurance companies does not prevent people from the means to seek redress in the courts. Though this concern may apply to an insurer who denies coverage to its insured, it does not apply to a surety providing a performance bond on a construction project in an amount and with terms specified by the contractor.

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